IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEO EDWARD PERRY, JR.,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

CASE NO. SC96499

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the clerk's record will be designated with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page number. The transcript will be similarly designated with the prefix "T." An appendix is attached to this brief containing the trial court's sentencing order and will be designated with the prefix "App."

STATEMENT OF FONT SIZE

This brief has been prepared using Courier New, 12 point, a font which is not proportionally spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On November 24, 1997, an Escambia County grand jury returned an indictment charging Leo Edward Perry, Jr., with the first degree murder of John W. Johnston. (R1:1-2) The indictment alleged both premeditated murder and felony murder with robbery as the underlying felony. (R1:1-2) The date of the offense was alleged as February 21, 1997. (R1:1-2) Perry proceeded to a jury trial which commenced on July 19, 1999. (T1:9) At the conclusion of the guilt phase of the trial, the jury returned a specific verdict finding Perry guilty of first degree murder under both premeditated and felony murder theories. (R2:288-289; T7:1227-1229) The penalty phase of the trial was held on July 23, 1999. (T7:1235) The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 10 to 2. (R2:305; T8:1528)

A sentencing hearing before the judge only was held on August 5, 1999. (R2:349) The court received sentencing memorandums from the State and the defense and also heard the testimony of one of Perry's former employers. (R2:312, 332, 349-363) On August 26, 1999, Circuit Judge Joseph Q. Tarbuck announced the imposition of a death sentence. (R3:383) The court filed a written sentencing order finding three aggravating circumstances: (1) murder committed during commission of a

robbery; (2) murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel; (3) murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R3: 398-401)(App. A) Regarding mitigation, the court gave no weight to the three offered statutory mitigating circumstances: (1) Perry had no significant history of prior criminal activity; (2) Perry was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance; (3) Perry's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct was substantially impaired. (R3:401-404)(App. A) The defense offered 16 nonstatutory mitigating circumstances concerning Perry's abusive childhood, his hyperactive disorder, his good work history, his cooperation with the police after his arrest, his remorse, and his alcohol and drug addiction. (R3:404-406)(App.A) The court gave these nonstatutory mitigating circumstances little weight. (R3:408)(App. A)

Perry filed his notice of appeal to this Court on August 27, 1999. (R3:416)

The State's Case

John Johnston checked into the Motel 6 in Pensacola on the evening of February 20, 1997, around 8:00. (T2:277-283) He rented a single room with one double bed for one night and paid cash. (T2:278-281) Johnston presented a Texas driver's license bearing the number TX10621832 and wrote his vehicle tag as a

Texas number SD0517. (T2:281-282) He presented an AARP discount card. (T2:282) According to the motel clerk on duty, there did not appear to be anyone with Johnston, and the room was rented to one guest. (T2:280-282)

On February 21, housekeepers at the motel found the body of John Johnston in the bed in the room he had rented the previous evening. (T2:242-249) The head housekeeper looked into the room when advised that the occupant had not checked out. (T2:242-245) She saw someone in the bed with the covers pulled over them with just the feet exposed. (T2:247) She advised Steven Moss, the motel manager, that the room was still occupied. (T2:245) Moss was the first person to actually go into the room, and he discovered that Johnston was dead. (T2:250-253; T4:654-655) Once inside the room, Moss picked up the corner of the bedspread which covered the body. (T2:253) Although he did not see Johnston's head because a pillow covered it, Moss did see blood over the neck and chest area. (T2:253-254) A guest room key was beside the bed, and Moss picked it up. (T2:254) However, he realized he should leave it, and he replaced it. (T2:254) Moss called the sheriff's office. (T2:255)

Deputy Robert Martin arrived and secured the scene. (T2:261-266) Paramedic Mark Snowden observed the body and removed the pillow from the head but replaced it.(T2:269-276) Snowden

testified that he attempted to minimize disturbance to the scene. (T2:273-276)

Crime scene investigation revealed the body was covered with a pillow over the head, a bedspread, a blanket and a sheet. (T2:306, 322) The sheet was pulled up from the bottom of the bed, the victim's feet were exposed and the sheet was folded or bunched up over the torso. (State's Exhibits 1F,1J,1K,1L) sheet had blood stains and cuts in it. (T2: 320, 322-323) There was blood on the bed and the walls. (T2:305-306, 329-332, 331-333) The victim's traveling bag, which had not been disturbed, was in the room on a chair. (T2:382-386; T6:972-974) Items of clothing were located beside the bed: a pair of pants(T2:326, 337); a pair of shoes (T2:326, 340); a T-shirt (T3:326); a rosary on the floor with the clothing and a medallion(T2:327, 342); a blue plaid shirt, which lay undisturbed under a chair next the undisturbed travel bag, with two envelopes in the pocket containing cash in the amount of \$1150. (T2:338-339, 383-386) Underneath the bed, a pair of pink panties was found. (T2:369-370) A crack pipe, which proved to have cocaine residue, was found just underneath the foot of the bed. (T2:327, 386-389) broken sunglasses was A pair of on the floor by the wall.(T2:328, 339) A towel was on the bathroom counter. (T2:330)

Dr. John Lazarchick, a forensic pathologist, came to the

scene to begin his examination. (T3:487-489) Lazarchick removed the sheet covering the body and did his first examination. (T3:490) A bedspread had been removed from the body prior to Lazarchick's arrival. (T3:522) The body was lying face up in the bed clad only in a pair of blue bikini underwear which the medical examiner pulled down to check body temperature. (T3:489, 521) Lazarchick noted an extensive amount of blood on the chest and neck regions. (T3:490) Based on his findings concerning rigor mortis, lividity and body temperature, Lazarchick estimated that death occurred 12 to 24 hours earlier. (T3: 490-493) When asked about semen later found on the bed sheet, Lazarchick said the presence of semen did not necessarily indicate sexual activity since sometimes semen can be expressed postmortem due to rigor mortis. (T3:492) Lazarchick also acknowledged that there had been no semen found in the underwear found on the body. (T3:530-532) An autopsy was performed on the following day. (T3:494)

During the autopsy, Lazarchick found and identified eight wounds, three incised wounds to the neck, four stab wounds to the chest, and one cut to the left thumb. (T3:499-514) The examination also revealed a contusion to the nose which Lazarchick said may have occurred just prior to death or much earlier at an event unrelated to the homicide. (T3:497-498, 529)

Using the medical examiner's numbers, wound #1 to the right side of the neck was approximately three inches long and a depth ranging from one quarter inch to one-and-a-half inches. (T3:500-501) The wound was consistent with having been made by a singleedged knife since one side of the wound had a blunt shape. (T3:501-502) Wound #2 paralleled wound #1, it was three-and-ahalf inches long, and it ranged in depth from superficial to three-quarters of an inch. (T3:502) This wound severed the jugular vein and would have been fatal by itself. (T3:502) Wound #3 was a very superficial wound across the neck. (T3:504-505) Wound #4 was a stab wound to the central portion of the chest about two thirds of an inch long and penetrating through bone of the rib cage and into the pericardial sack. (T3:507) The wound exhibited blunt and sharp edges and would have required considerable force. (T3:507) Lazarchick stated this wound, alone, would have potentially caused death. (T3:508) Wound #5 was also a stab wound in the middle part of the chest. (T3:510) This wound went between the ribs, entered the heart and would have been fatal. (T3:510) Lazarchick said this wound also exhibited sharp and blunt edges. (T3:510) He explained that the sharp edge shape would have been from the cutting portion of the blade and the blunt shape would have been caused by the area at the hilt of the knife where the blade joins the handle. (T3:510) Wound #6 was a stab wound to the chest to the lateral left side. (T3:511) This wound also had the blunt and sharp edges. (T3:511) The path of the wound went between the ribs and entered the left lung. (T3:511) Injuries from this wound may have been fatal without medical treatment. (T3:511) Wound #7 was a very shallow wound which Lazarchick described as an attempted stab wound. (T3:512) Wound #8 was a superficial incised wound to the thumb which was consistent with a defensive wound. (T3:514)

Lazarchick rendered no opinion on the exact sequence or timing of the wounds, although he thought the stab wounds probably preceded the neck wounds. (T3:530, 535-537) He was of the opinion that these wounds were administered rapidly --within 20 seconds and not longer than 25 seconds. (T3:533-534) Death would have occurred within five minutes from these wounds. (T3:517, 534) Lazarchick testified that these wounds would have been painful while Johnston was conscious. (T3:515-516) These wounds would have produced unconsciousness and eliminated the victim's ability to feel pain within one minute. (T3:517)

Laura Rousseau from FDLE tested for presence of hairs, fibers latent fingerprints and semen on the body and for blood in the motel room. (T3:419-438) Using a lumalite process, fibers were found and collected from the body. (T3:421-422) No fingerprints or semen were detected using this process. (T3:422-

423) She conducted a presumptive test for blood in the motel room using luminol and phenolphthalein. (T3:423-425) In the bathroom, Rousseau found one area with a reaction for the presumptive tests for blood. (T3:424-425) The sink and counter tops had too much fingerprint powder on them to test for blood. (T3:425) On the two walls by the bed with visible stains, testing with luminol produced a reaction for blood. (T3:426)

Janice Johnson, an FDLE crime laboratory analyst, examined the blood splatters found at the scene. (T4:718-771) Based on her review of crime scene photographs and evidence, Johnson rendered an opinion that the injuries producing bloodshed occurred on the bed of the motel room. (T4:725) She could not determine the sequence or timing of the wounds. (T4:747-750) Johnson acknowledged that there was a blood splatter on the underside of the bottom of the bedspread. (T4:750-754) She could not tell how the bedspread was positioned and could only say that the underside was facing upward. (T4:754)

Christina Sanders, a fiber analyst, testified about the cuts found in the sheet. (T4:656-666) She found eight holes in the top part of the sheet. (T4:659) After making a series of test cuts with different implements for comparison purposes, Sanders concluded that the holes in the sheet were made by a sharp bladed implement. (T4:660-666)

One latent fingerprint belonging to Leo Perry was recovered from the inside of a Motel 6 soap wrapper. (T4:635-641) No other latent prints of value were lifted at the motel room. (T4:640-641)

Serology and DNA testing was performed on various items of evidence. Leo Perry's DNA was discovered from a blood stain on a towel found in the motel room and from a Marlboro cigarette butt found in the room. (T4:684-687, 708-713) John Johnston's DNA was found on blood stains found on the bedspread, bed sheet, and a light switch plate from the motel bathroom. (T4:677-679, 683) A semen stain found on the bottom bed sheet matched Johnston's DNA. (T4:679-680) There was no blood or semen found on the blue bikini underwear Johnston wore. (T4:676-677) Testing on the pink panties found under the bed proved to have a semen stain and two different DNA strands which was inconsistent with both Perry and Johnston. (T4:680-683)

Audrey Black and her husband rented the room next to Johnston's room at the Motel 6 at the time of the homicide. (T2:288-289) They checked into the room around 5:00 p.m. on February 20, 1997. (T2:289) During the night, Black heard noises from the room next door. (T2:290) She first heard a sound as if someone fell out of bed and then muffled noises around 4:00 a.m. which would have been February 21. (T2:290, 294) Black

explained that she often awakens during the night and has difficulty going back to sleep. (T2:296-297) Shortly after the muffled noises, Black heard a lot of banging sounds from the room. (T2:291) After another brief time, she heard someone walking swiftly and heavily across the floor and then the door slammed. (T2:291) Black looked out of the window and saw a man standing on the driver's side of a white pick-up truck. (T2:291) The truck was parked one car away from the Black's own vehicle which was parked directly in front of Black's room. (T2:292) The man unlocked the truck and got inside. (T2:293) Once inside the truck, the man fell sideways onto the seat. (T2:293) He was in that position for a minute. (T2:293, 300) According to Black, he then seemed to jump up, start the truck , back out of the space, and drive away. (T2:293, 300) She thought he seemed like he was in a hurry. (T2:293) Black did not think the man seemed intoxicated, and he seemed sure of the things he did. (T2:300) From the time she first heard the noises until the man drove away, Black estimated the time to be 20 minutes. (T2:294) On cross-examination, Black agreed that she told the police investigator it was a very short period of time and that her recollection was probably better at the time she gave the investigator the statement. (T2:298) In court, Black said that Leo Perry looks similar to the man, but she could not be

positive of her identification. (T2:295)

Ernest Burrs, Jr., a patrolman with the Florida Highway Patrol, stopped a white Chevrolet pick-up truck for speeding in Palm Beach County. (T3:566-567) Ricardo Guzman was driving the truck and his brother, Miquel Guzman was a passenger. (T3:568) Ricardo Guzman produced a Florida ID card and a registration for the truck. (T3:568) Burrs noted that the truck had a Florida plate. (T3:568) Burrs ran checks on the ID card and the Florida plate and vin number of the vehicle. (T3:569-570) He learned that Guzman had a suspended license and the truck was reported stolen. (T3:569-570) Ricardo Guzman testified that he obtained the truck from a man he met at a service station in Lake Worth. (T4:591, 594-595) Guzman was a known crack cocaine dealer in the community. (T4:603) approached Guzman and asked if he wanted to rent the truck. (T4:595-596) In the drug trade, this meant he wanted to loan the truck for a couple of hours in exchange for drugs. (T4:596) The man wanted crack, but Guzman did not have any. (T4: 596, 603-604) Guzman gave the man \$20 to use the truck. (T4:596) When Guzman returned with the truck, the man could not be found. (T4:597) Guzman kept the truck and changed the tags. (T4:599-Both Guzmans were arrested and the truck was impounded. 600) (T3:570-575) The Escambia County Sheriff's Office secured the

truck the next day. (T3:575; T4:606-608) With the help of Ricardo Guzman, the paperwork for the truck, the Texas tag which had been on the truck and a plaid jacket from the truck were recovered. (T4:609-612) The truck belonged to John Johnston. (T3:447-449) Leo Perry's fingerprints were later discovered on a plastic bag found in the truck. (T4:650-651) Johnston's DNA was found on a stain on blue jeans recovered from the truck. (T4:687)

Leo Riley, the manager of a motel in Lake Worth, testified that a man staying in his motel drove a white truck similar to the truck seized from Guzman. (T3:559-560) The man stayed with another man, Dee Taylor, who rented a room by the week. (T3:560-562) Riley described the man with the truck as five feet eight or nine inches with medium-length hair and a mustache. (T3:561) He identified someone in court as looking similar to the man. (T3:561-562) The second night, Riley noted that the man no longer had the truck. (T3:562-563)

Janice Effiger of Western Union Financial Services testified that records showed wire transfers of money to Leo Perry in February 1997. (T3:543-549) There were three transfers dated February 21, 23 and 26. (T3:545-547) All three were picked up and cashed in Lake Worth. (T3:545-547)

On November 5, 1997, Leo Perry was arrested in New Orleans.

(T4:617-620) Escambia Sheriff Investigators John Sanderson and Tracy Yuhasz transported Perry back to Escambia County. (T3:451-455) Sanderson interviewed Perry during the drive back, and Yuhasz sat in the back seat of the car taking notes. (T3:454-455, 472) Perry said he was hitchhiking south from Chicago, and Johnston picked him up somewhere in Alabama and gave him a ride. (T3:459) They stopped in Pensacola and stayed at the Perry said Johnston was Motel 6. (T3:459,463) heterosexual. (T3:458) While in the room, Perry said Johnston at one point tried to get into the shower with him. (T3: 458) There was no mention of any other sexual advance or assault. (T3:458-459) Perry said he cut Johnston with a boot knife. (T3:461) Before this happened, Perry had been in a bar all night with two women whom he did not know who drove him back to the motel. (T3:459) Perry was able to point out the bars he spent time in that night. (T3: 474-476) He told Sanderson that the crack pipe found in the room was probably his. (T3:460) He was on crack at the time but he was not smoking crack at the time of the homicide. (T3:460-462, 477-479) According to Sanderson, Perry said he took Johnston's wallet from the room and drove south in the truck eight or nine hours, stopping in Lake Worth. (T3:461, 481) Perry threw the wallet out on a ramp at Interstate 10. (T3:461,480)

The Defense's Case

Leo Perry testified in his own defense and related the circumstances of his involvement in the homicide of Johnston. (T5:799-963) Perry was born in 1969, and since he was 14-years-old, he had worked with traveling carnivals and shows. (T5:800-804) Starting as a "ride jockey", Perry later had more responsible jobs requiring supervision of other workers in the setting up and operation of the rides. (T5:804-805) For the year preceding his trip to Florida, Perry worked as ride superintendent for Midways Shows in Chicago. (T5:805-805) Because the winter months were slow for this work in the north, Perry left Chicago for Homestead, Florida where he had work available. (T5:805-806, 813-814) He hitchhiked. (T5:806-807) Johnston gave Perry a ride somewhere in Alabama on the morning of February 20, 1997. (T5:807-808)

During the ride, Johnston talked to Perry asking him about his life and discussed politics. (T5:808-809) Perry learned that Johnston used to teach school. (T5:809) They stopped at a Waffle House, where Johnston bought Perry a meal. (T5:810) Johnston paid for the meal with money he took from his shirt pocket. (T5:811-812) Perry said he left Chicago with \$68 and had about \$50 when Johnston gave him a ride. (T5:810-811) Later, they stopped for fuel, but Perry did not see Johnston paying since

Perry operated the pump. (T5:812-813) Perry napped periodically during the trip, and after dark, Johnston awoke him and said he planned to stop in Pensacola for the night. (T5:813-815) Johnston offered to allow Perry to stay in his motel room for the night if he wanted to ride further with him the next day. (T5:814-815) Perry accepted. (T5:815) They stopped at a Motel 6 and Johnston rented a room. (T5:815) Perry did not see the rental transaction and did not know how Johnston paid for the room. (T5:816) Johnston told Perry that he rented a room with one bed, and Perry could sleep on the floor. (T5:816) Perry had his sleeping bag with him and readily agreed to that arrangement. (T5:816)

The room was small, and Perry placed his traveling bag along the wall underneath the television. (T5:817) He thought Johnston brought one bag inside. (T5:817-818) Perry wanted to shower, and he took his shaving kit and change of clothes to the bathroom. (T5:819) While Perry was in the shower, Johnston came in to use the restroom. (T5: 820) He flushed the toilet and went to the sink area. (T5:820-821) Perry thought Johnston was waiting for him to get out.(T5:821) At that time, Johnston approached the shower. (T5:821) Perry put his hand up and just touched Johnston and said he would be out in a few minutes. (T5:821) Johnston nodded and left. (T5:821) Perry stepped out of

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