IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LEO EDWARD PERRY, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

CASE NO. SC96499

(850) 414-3300 Ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In addition, he also testified that the victim had a defensive wound on his thumb and that one of the wounds to the victim's neck was irregular in shape which would be consistent with the victim struggling at the time the Defendant was slashing the victim's The medical examiner also indicated throat. that the victim would have died within about five minutes and would have been unconscious in about a minute and that the wounds were probably delivered in rapid succession. These facts demonstrate that the victim was conscious at the time all of the wounds were inflicted and therefore would experienced the pain associated with each of the wounds so inflicted.

This aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and there is competent substantial evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the offense was committed in a heinous, atrocious and cruel manner and this aggravating factor will be given great weight.

(R III 399-400).

The record supports these findings. John Lazarchick, the medical examiner, identified three wounds to the victim's neck and four to his chest that were consistent with a single-edged knife. (T III 499-501). One of the neck wounds severed the jugular vein and would have been fatal. (T III 502). Due to the irregular shape of this wound, the medical examiner concluded that the victim was struggling when it was inflicted. (T III 503). One wound to the chest entered the pericardium and would have been fatal. (R III 506-08). "Extensive" force was needed to cause this wound because the knife went through bone.

(R III 509). For a second chest wound the knife went between ribs and into the heart, causing another fatal injury. (R III 510). In a third chest wound the knife again went between ribs and into the left lung, causing another injury that would have been fatal without immediate medical attention. (R III 511-12). The eighth wound suffered by the victim was a defensive knife wound to his left thumb. (R III 513-15).

though the victim probably would have lost consciousness within a minute of all the wounds being inflicted due to blood loss and probably died within five minutes (T III 517), he was conscious and struggling at the beginning of the attack (T III 517) and would have felt "an extreme amount of pain." (T III 516). The medical examiner testified that, due to the amount of blood on the bed (and the lack of blood elsewhere), the victim was lying face up in the bed when attacked and that, if the victim had moved (i.e., fell onto the bed) after being attacked, there would have been blood "all over the place." (T III 518). Jan Johnson, an FDLE blood-spatter expert, agreed with the medical examiner's conclusions that the victim was lying in bed when stabbed. (T IV 725-26). She based her opinion on the bloodstains on the wall beside the bed and above and below the headboard and the blood pooled on the floor

under the bed. (T IV 732, 734, 736-37). These facts support the trial court's finding HAC in aggravation.

Perry relies on several cases where this Court struck the HAC aggravator, but these cases are factually distinguishable. In Zakrzewski v. State, 717 So. 2d 488, 493 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1126 (1999), this Court found the adult victim's death not be HAC because the first blow from the crowbar rendered her unconscious. Because of the body's decomposition the medical examiner could say conclusively regarding the three stab wounds, so this Court struck HAC in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 52, 53-54 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1119 (1995). HAC was struck in Elam v. State, 636 So.2d 1312, 1314 (Fla. 1994), because the victim endured no prolonged suffering or anticipation of death. Rhodes v. State, 547 So.2d 1201, 1208 (Fla. 1989), this Court struck HAC because the victim may have been only semiconscious. Similarly, in Scott v. State, 494 So. 2d 1134, 1137 (Fla. 1986), there was no evidence that the victim was conscious, or even alive, when run over by a car. This Court approved finding HAC in Scott, however, based on the victim's being beaten several times. The victim in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 458, 463 (Fla. 1984), lost consciousness when shot, and, in <u>Herzoq v. State</u>,

439 So.2d 1372, 1380 (Fla. 1983), eyewitnesses testified that the victim was unconscious when killed.

This Court has upheld HAC in many cases where the victim was stabbed to death. <u>Brown v. State</u>, 721 So.2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1102 (1999); Williamson v. State, 681 So.2d 688, 698 (Fla. 1996), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 520 U.S. 1200 (1997); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 107, 109 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 516 U.S. 827 (1995); <u>Derrick v. State</u>, 641 So.2d 378, 381 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 513 U.S. 1130 (1995). medical examiner testified that the victim was conscious and struggling and in extreme pain. Thus, this case is closer to other cases where this Court affirmed the finding of HAC than to the cases cited by Perry. E.g., Bates v. State, 750 So.2d 6, 18 (Fla. 1999) (victim on her back looking at Bates when stabbed twice; would have been conscious for one to two minutes); Guzman v. State, 721 So.2d 1155, 1157 (Fla. 1998) (victim conscious at least when attack began), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1102 (1999); Mahn v. State, 714 So.2d 391, 399 (Fla. 1998) (victim sustained defensive wounds); Lott v. State, 695 So.2d 1239, 1244 (Fla.) (HAC upheld even though victim may have been unconscious when fatal stab would occurred), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 986 (1997); <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1990) (victim had defensive wounds).

The record fully supports the trial court's finding this murder to have been committed in an especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel manner, and that finding should be affirmed.

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THE STATE ESTABLISHED THE COLD, CALCULATED, AND PREMEDITATED AGGRAVATOR.

Perry argues that the trial court erred in finding that the cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) aggravator had been established. There is no merit to this claim.

The court made the following findings as to CCP:

3. The capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner.

evidence establishes that the Defendant waited for the victim to go to bed and fall asleep and that thereafter the Defendant obtained a knife and methodically stabbed the victim four times in the chest area and slashed his neck three times, severing the jugular vein. The evidence establishes that the knife used to kill the victim was not the boot knife which the Defendant carried his on person therefore it is logical to assume that the Defendant went about obtaining another knife to kill the victim rather than use the Defendant's own knife. The evidence further establishes that it was not necessary for Defendant to kill the victim to accomplish his goal and could have taken the victim's truck keys and wallet without killing the victim.

The nature of the wounds inflicted, one of which severed the jugular vein, was a method of killing that the Defendant had discussed with Melissa Perry when he advised her that you did not need a big knife to kill a person, only a small knife provided that you cut the jugular vein. Defendant's conduct in this case clearly establishes beyond a reasonable doubt that executed victim was in calculated and premeditated manner. aggravating factor has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt and to this aggravating factor the Court will give great weight.

(R III 400-01).

The state must prove four elements to establish the CCP aggravator: The murder must be "cold;" it must be the product of a careful plan or prearranged design; there must be heightened premeditation; and there must be no pretense of moral or legal justification. Brown v. State, 721 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 526 U.S. 1102 (1999); Lott v. State, 695 So.2d 1239 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 986 (1997); Jones v. State, 690 So.2d 568 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 880 (1997); Walls v. State, 641 So.2d 381 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1130 (1995). The state met its burden in this case, and the trial court correctly found that CCP had been established.

Perry, however, argues that the court erred in finding this aggravator because: 1) there was no proof the victim was asleep (initial brief at 67-69); 2) the stabbing was not methodical (initial brief at 69-70); 3) the court incorrectly found that

Perry did not use his own knife (initial brief at 70-71); 4) the court improperly found that the murder was not necessary to accomplish the robbery (initial brief at 71-72); and 5) the court improperly relied on Perry's severing the victim's jugular vein. (Initial brief at 72).⁶ There is no merit to these claims.

The court's stating that Perry waited for the victim to go to bed and fall asleep is not central to the conclusion that CCP applies to this murder. As Perry admits (initial brief at 67), the state established that the victim was in bed when stabbed. (T III 518; IV 725). Perry argues that his "confession and trial testimony" show that the evidence supported his version of events. (Initial brief at 68). On the contrary, however, the medical examiner stated that the victim did not fall backward onto the bed from a standing position because, if such had happened, there would have been blood "all over the place." (T III 518). Moreover, cuts in the sheet covering the victim were consistent with having been made by a single edged blade. (T IV 664). Perry's testimony refutes his current claim that it would be reasonable to assume that the victim used both the blanket and bedspread as well as the sheet, i.e., he testified that the

⁶ Perry does not claim that he had a moral or legal justification.

room was so warm that he took off his jeans and shirt (T V 861) and that he covered the victim with the blanket, spread, and a pillow after killing him. (T V 869).

As Perry points out (initial brief at 68) the victim's merely being asleep does not demonstrate CCP. This is so because CCP pertains more to the state of mind, intent, and motivation of the perpetrator than to the perception of the victim. Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984), cert. denied, 471 U.S. 1111 (1985); Mason v. State, 438 So.2d 374 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1051 (1984). However, it is reasonable to assume, on the facts of this case, that Perry waited until the victim was asleep or almost so to begin his murderous assault because a person in such a state would be less likely or able to resist the attack effectively.

Also, contrary to Perry's argument, the court properly found the stabbing to have been methodical. The medical examiner testified that four of the eight wounds were fatal, i.e., three to the chest and one to the throat. Instead of flailing around, stabbing indiscriminately, Perry stabbed the victim four times in the chest and three in the throat, two areas of the body where wounds could be expected to be lethal. The facts are not consistent with a frenzied attack, but are consistent with a

plan to inflict the greatest possible injury to the victim in a short time and with little resistance.

Perry claims that the wounds are consistent with his testimony "that the killing was an impulsive, spur-of-the-moment act while he was under the influence of drugs and alcohol." (Initial brief at 69). However, the judge and jury were entitled to, and obviously did, reject Perry's self-serving testimony as contrary to the evidence. <u>Wournos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000, 1008-09 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1069 (1995); Walls, 641 So.2d at 387; Pardo v. State, 563 So.2d 77, 80 (Fla. 1990); Scott v. State, 494 So.2d 1134, 1138 (Fla. 1986). Moreover, his reliance on Dr. Frazier is not well taken because the doctor's opinion suffers from the same fatal flaw. Frazier repeatedly stated that his assessment of Perry was based on Perry's self-serving statements to the doctor. (E.g., VIII 1398 (lines 16-22), 1400 (lines 21-25), 1402 (lines 2-5), 1404 (lines 19-24), 1407 (lines 2-6 and 19-24), 1408 (lines 2-15), 1434 (lines 14-25)). As such, the judge and jury were free to reject the doctor's opinions. Walls.

Perry also complains about the trial court's concluding that he used a second knife, not his boot knife, to kill the victim. In doing so, he claims he used his boot knife (initial brief at 70) and cites volume V of the transcript, pages 856 through 857

and 863 through 869. In that part of his testimony Perry stated that he carried a three-inch knife in his boot for personal protection (T V 856), that when he came up off the floor he did not know if he had his knife in his hand (T V 865), and that, when he came to himself again, he had "a" knife (T V 868) in his hand. At no time did he testify that he used his double-edged boot knife on the victim. As the state proved, the victim was stabbed with a single-edged knife. (T III 501; IV 665). Because Perry's knife was double-edged, it was reasonable for the court to conclude that Perry procured another, single-edged knife that he used to murder the victim.

Perry also complains about the court's finding he could have stolen the victim's property without killing him. Again, he relies on his self-serving testimony to support his argument. Also again, however, the judge and jury reasonably could have not believed that testimony. As set out in issue I, supra, the evidence was sufficient to support Perry's conviction. Perry's self-serving protestation of lack of intent to rob and kill the victim is belied by his having done both.

The trial court did not err in relying on Perry's having told his ex-wife that one did not need a large knife to kill, a small one would do if the jugular vein were severed. The court properly admitted this testimony (issue III, supra), and the

state established that one of the fatal wounds involved severing the victim's jugular vein. This shows Perry's awareness of what he was doing and of the consequences of his actions. As such, it is valid support for the trial court's finding CCP.

The cases that Perry relies on (initial brief at 68) are factually distinguishable and, therefore, not comparable to the instant cases. Perry's memory was highly selective. He recounted with considerable specificity his activities the night of the murder, including the amount of alcohol and drugs he claimed to have ingested, but then claimed that he had no idea how the victim wound up dead. See Johnson v. State, 608 So.2d 4, 13 (Fla. 1992) (too much purposeful conduct for much consideration to be given to defendant's alleged intoxication),

For example, unlike in <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 721 So.2d 1155, 1162 (Fla. 1998), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 526 U.S. 1102 (1999), a weapon of opportunity was not used, and the evidence shows this murder to have been planned. Unlike in Mahn v. State, 714 So.2d 391, 398 (Fla. 1998), Perry did not use a hastily obtained weapon in a haphazard manner. Unlike Geralds v. State, 601 So.2d 1157, 1163-64 (Fla. 1992), Perry did not try to avoid the victim, immediately killed the victim to effect the robbery, the victim struggled only after being stabbed, and Perry did not use a In <u>Penn v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1079, 1083 weapon of opportunity. (Fla. 1991), the trial court found a mental mitigator based on Penn's intoxication that tempered his ability to coldly premeditate the murder. The same is not true in this case. attack in Campbell v. State, 571 So.2d 415, 418 (Fla. 1990), took place in one continuous period during which Campbell had no time to reflect on his actions. Finally, in Blanco v. State, 452 So.2d 520, 526 (Fla. 1984), this Court found it reasonable that the victim surprised Blanco, resulting in his being shot.

cert. denied, 508 U.S. 919 (1993); Kokal v. State, 492 So.2d 1317, 1319 (Fla. 1986) (same). The evidence presented by the state contradicted Perry's testimony and shows that this murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. The court's finding the CCP aggravator should be affirmed because, when there is a legal basis for finding an aggravator, this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. Willacy v. State, 696 So.2d 693 (Fla.), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 970 (1997); Occhicone v. State, 570 So.2d 902 (Fla. 1990), cert. denied, 500 U.S. 938 (1991).

Even if this Court disagrees, however, Perry's death sentence should be affirmed. If the CCP aggravator were struck, two aggravators would remain. Balancing HAC and felony murder/robbery against the insubstantial nonstatutory mitigation established by Perry would show that death was the proper penalty. Any error as to CCP, therefore, would be harmless. Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96 (Fla.), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 891 (1996); Brown v. State, 644 So.2d 52 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1117 (1995).

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THE FELONY MURDER AGGRAVATOR TO HAVE BEEN ESTABLISHED.

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